RECEIVED

Dec 19 2022

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Richland County

Honorable Jocelyn J. Newman, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

TERRY GERRARD GRIDINE,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2021-001188

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JOANNA K. DELANY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the court erred where it prohibited Appellant from cross-examining Complainant on whether she was arrested and unsuccessfully attempted to reach Appellant to help her obtain bail a week before she alleged that Appellant sexually assaulted her, since Appellant was entitled to considerable latitude in cross-examining his accuser on her bias or motive to misrepresent?

2.

Whether the court erred where it prohibited Appellant from testifying that Complainant was arrested and unsuccessfully attempted to reach Appellant to help her obtain bail a week before she alleged Appellant sexually assaulted her, since the testimony was admissible, and since the ruling improperly restricted Appellant's right to testify in his defense?

3.

Whether the court erred where it prohibited Appellant from impeaching Complainant with her prior inconsistent statements about the alleged sexual assault, where Complainant continued to deny making the statements even after being presented with the prior inconsistent statements, since Appellant was entitled to confront his accuser, and since extrinsic evidence of such statements is admissible for impeachment under Rule 613(b), SCRE?

4.

Whether the court erred where it prohibited Appellant from offering testimony from Tomeka Scott, Complainant's relative, that Complainant had a reputation and character for untruthfulness, since the reputation evidence was admissible as a hearsay exception and as a pertinent character trait of an alleged victim?

5.

Whether the court erred where it denied Appellant's motion for a new trial based on cumulative error, since the cumulative effect of the errors was so prejudicial as to deprive Appellant of a fair trial?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 14, 2021, a Richland County Grand Jury indicted Terry Gridine, Appellant, for third-degree criminal sexual conduct. R. *(indictment). Appellant was tried before the Honorable Jocelyn Newman and a jury, on October 11 and October 13 – 14, 2021. Appellant was represented by Tracy Pinnock and Kathleen Warren. April Sampson and Paul Walton prosecuted the case. r. 1.

Appellant was convicted as indicted and he was sentenced to ten years of imprisonment suspended upon the service of seven years of imprisonment and five years of probation. Appellant was ordered to register as a sexual offender. Tr. 419, l. 15 – 420, l. 1; R. 394.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant was fifty-six years old and a manager at Manchester Farms at the time of his trial. R. 267, ll. 16-19. He had no history of committing sex crimes and he had no history of inappropriate behavior with women. R. 383, ll. 18-22; R. 310, l. 22 – 313, l. 14; R. 145, l. 24 – 146, l. 7. Appellant had a girlfriend, Laura, as well as several children and grandchildren. Appellant came from a large “tightknit” family, which included multiple siblings, aunts, nieces, and nephews. R. 267, l. 23 – 273, l. 10. Appellant’s mother, a person who had “held the family together,” died in 2016. R. 270, l. 23 – 271, l. 24.

At the time of Appellant’s trial, Appellant’s aunt, S.W. (Complainant) was seventy-six years old. R. 114, ll. 23-25. Until October of 2017, Appellant had a “normal nephew/auntie relationship” with Complainant. However, Complainant was known in the family as someone who liked to “stir the pot.” R. 269, l. 21 – 270, l. 1. Some family members were wary of Complainant and did not trust her. R. 307, ll. 4-7.

On October 21, 2017, seven days before she accused Appellant of sexually assaulting her, Complainant was arrested for shoplifting. Complainant called Appellant from the detention center to get his help posting her bond. However, she was unable to reach Appellant. R. 165, l. 19 – 169, l. 5.

Several days later, on October 26, 2017, Appellant stopped by Complainant’s house to kill some time while waiting for his girlfriend, who lived “down the road” from Complainant, to get off work. R. 272, l. 22 – 273, l. 16. Appellant had been going by Complainant’s house to hang out “forever.” R. 272, l. 22 – 273, l. 3. Complainant’s son Junior was there for a while but he left, and Appellant stayed on visiting with Complainant. R. 76, l. 4 – 77, l. 1; R. 118, l. 120, l.3. That evening, Appellant admitted to Complainant that he had been thinking of committing

suicide; he was depressed by the approaching anniversary of his mother's death. Also that evening, Complainant confronted Appellant about his failure to answer the phone when she called him for help from the jail. According to Appellant, he later left and went to his girlfriend's house without incident. R. 275, l. 14 – 277, l. 23; R. 173, ll. 2-4; R. 166, ll. 14-20. Appellant denied sexually assaulting Complainant. R. 272, ll. 10-11.

Complainant agreed that on the night of the alleged incident Appellant admitted to her he had been contemplating suicide. R. 120, ll. 18-24. However, Complainant called police the following evening and she claimed that Appellant made crude sexual remarks to her, tore at her clothes, and penetrated her vagina with his fingers. Complainant alleged she hit Appellant with a lamp until he stopped. R. 57, l. 12 -58, l. 1; R. 123, l. 11 – 127, l. 24.

Appellant pleaded not guilty. Appellant believed his failure to help Complainant bond out of jail was the catalyst for falsely accusing him of sexual assault. R. 249, ll. 11-19. However, the jury was not permitted to hear much of the context provided above.

As to Issue 1, Appellant was prevented from cross-examining Complainant about a source of bias or motive to misrepresent: Appellant's failure to help Complainant with her recent arrest. On cross-examination, defense counsel attempted to question Complainant as follows.

Q Do you recall telling [Appellant] that you had tried to reach out to him because you needed help?

A No.

Q So you did not call him?

A No.

Q Because you had been arrested?

MS. SAMPSON: Objection, Your Honor.

A That was some weeks—

R. 156, ll. 2-10. The jury was excused and the solicitor objected to the defense's line of questioning pursuant to Rule 5, SCRCrimP. The solicitor incorrectly claimed that defense counsel was required to notify her of the defense's intention to cross-examine the complainant with this information because the State had filed a "Reciprocal Rule 5." R. 157, l. 4 – 158, l. 12. The solicitor argued that defense counsel should be limited to questioning Complainant about Appellant's refusal to help her with some unspecified matter: "They could say she called for assistance, he didn't give it, and based on that, that is motive." R. 170, ll. 1-3.

Defense counsel argued that she had not violated Rule 5 since this was "impeachment evidence." R. 158, ll. 20-24. "[Appellant] has been charged with CSC third against [Complainant]. The arrest or the bond sheet indicates that [Complainant] was arrested for shoplifting in Forest Acres, posted bond for that charge on October 21st. Six days later she was accusing [Appellant] of a sexual assault after, it is our understanding, from reaching out to him for help with posting her bond, which he did not do." R. 165, l. 19 – 166, l. 2. "Your Honor, it goes directly to our theory of defense, It shows that [Complainant] has a motive to make these allegations up, that she is biased against [Appellant]." R. 166, ll. 3-6. "[I]t is impeachment evidence. We have a right to present [Appellant's] defense. It is integral to our defense, the issue of motive and bias." R. 171, ll. 6-9. "So that was our intention with using it. We would not be going into any details, asking anything outside of, You were arrested, you contacted him about bond, he did not post it, you had to find somebody else. And that is it." R. 166, ll. 11-13.

Defense counsel further explained, You heard in opening statements also, [Appellant] is going to be testifying in his own defense, Your Honor. And part of his testimony . . . is that he

had the conversation with [Complainant], she told him she reached out to him, he was not there to assist her in getting out of jail.” R. 166, ll. 14-20.

Complainant’s testimony on the matter was proffered. Complainant agreed that she was arrested, she tried to get in touch with Appellant, could not reach Appellant, and had to call her sister. R. 168, l. 7 – 169, l. 5. *In camera*, Complainant was defensive and tried to minimize her attempt to reach Appellant.

BY MS. PINNOCK:

Q Ms. [Complainant], you were arrested—you called [Appellant] for help with posting your bond because you had been arrested, is that right?

A No.

Q You were not arrested?

A Yes.

Q Okay. And that was October 21st of 2017?

A I didn’t—

...

A I didn’t call him. I was trying to get in touch with him to get in touch with my daughter.

Q Okay. But you never talked to [Appellant] on the phone, did you?

A No.

Q Okay. And you had to find somebody else to come assist you?

A I couldn’t get him, so I called my sister.

Q Okay.

A It had nothing to do with him.

R. 168, l. 5 – 169, l. 5.

The court ruled the testimony was inadmissible but told the defense it could question Complainant generally that she had asked Appellant for help.

[T]he mention of an arrest, considering what the testimony is, is of course inflammatory, it is bad character evidence, it is – it has little probative value. And to the extent that it does have probative value, that value is outweighed by the potential of substantial unfair prejudice to the victim.

And so pursuant to rules 403, 404, and some extent 608, I'm going to sustain the objection. And I won't tell you what questions to ask, but I don't disagree with what [the solicitor] said in substance if this is about asking for help or financial help, or something like that. I'm not going to tell you whether you should ask that or not, of course, but there shall be no mention of the victim, the alleged victim's arrest.

R. 171, l. 14 – 172, l. 8.

Defense counsel asked, "Is Your Honor's ruling limiting what [Appellant] can testify about?" R. 172, ll. 18-19. The court replied, "We're not going to talk about the fact that she was arrested." R. 172, ll. 20-21. Defense counsel objected to the limitation of her cross-examination of Complainant and to the potential restriction of Appellant's testimony.

But the issue is, Your Honor, he was part of the conversation. And the actions from [Complainant] followed this conversation. If he can't explain to the jury why she had the motive and bias against him to a degree that would explain why she would be accusing him of a sexual assault and not just saying that he stole something from her house, needing to borrow ten dollars is not the same as not coming to get your family member out of jail.

R. 173, ll. 2-10.

The court withheld ruling on whether it would similarly restrict Appellant's testimony. The court issued a curative instruction ordering the jury to disregard the last question and answer it had heard. R. 174, ll. 2-16. Defense counsel then asked Complainant, generically, whether

Appellant had been unresponsive when Complainant “reached out to [Appellant] for help.” R. 174, l. 21 – 205, l. 17.

As to Issue 2, after the court advised Appellant of his rights to testify in his own defense or to remain silent, the solicitor immediately asked whether Appellant intended to testify that Complainant tried to contact him from the jail, and argued that Appellant should be foreclosed from doing so. R. 247, l. 16 – 249, l. 6. The court asked defense counsel how Appellant knew about Complainant’s arrest and defense counsel again stated that Appellant was told so by the Complainant herself, the night of the alleged sexual assault. The solicitor then argued the testimony was inadmissible hearsay. R. 248, l. 10 – 249, l. 6.

Defense counsel observed that, “we would not have this issue if we had been allowed to cross-examine [Complainant] on that issue.” R. 249, ll. 8-10. “[W]e have been hamstrung at this point . . .” Tr. 280, ll. 1-2. Defense counsel argued that Appellant’s rights to due process and to present a defense by exploring bias and motive should override a hearsay objection on these facts. R. 250, ll. 4-16.

The court sustained the objection.

Okay. You were not barred yesterday from asking her whether she later told him that she called him or something that would give some nexus to what you are trying to do today . . . I’m not going to allow the hearsay testimony about something that he heard later that she might have done from the jail, and whatever. So that objection is sustained.

R. 250, l. 17 – 251, l. 15. The prosecutor continued to argue, claiming Complainant’s arrest was inadmissible on the grounds that the charge had been expunged, and cited § 17-22-150 and *State v. Joseph*, 328 S.C. 352 (Ct. App. 1997). R. 252, l. 6 – 254, l. 12. The court stated that it found those sources provided further support for the court’s ruling. R. 254, ll. 17-21.

Appellant went on to testify in his defense, but on this matter he only testified in general terms that the evening Complainant accused him of sexual assault, they had a discussion about the fact that Complainant had previously called him for assistance because she “needed help with something” but Appellant did not receive the call. R. 275, ll. 9-24.

As to the Issue 3, when testifying to the details of the alleged incident on direct examination, Complainant claimed that: 1) she was sitting in her recliner when Appellant came up behind her and gave her a hug and said he loved her before he went back outside, then Appellant came back inside and got on his hands and knees in front of her and made crude sexual comments; 2) Complainant pushed Appellant away and got up from her recliner, whereupon Appellant grabbed her and put his finger in her vagina; and 3) Complainant’s son was home when Appellant arrived but he left before the alleged assault. R. 123, l. 11 – 127, l. 5; R. 119, ll. 17-23.

However, Complainant had detailed the allegations a bit differently to Officer Christian, the responding officer who came to take the initial report. Officer Christian was the first witness to testify, he had already testified by the time Complainant took the stand. R. 2; R. 57, l. 12 – 58, l. 9. Officer Christian’s body-worn camera¹ captured Complainant’s claims that: 1) she was sitting in her recliner when Appellant came up behind her and put her in a choke hold so she pushed him away; 2) Complainant got up from the recliner and moved to the couch, then moved back to the recliner before Appellant sexually assaulted her; and 3) Appellant repeatedly asked Complainant if her son was home.

On cross-examination, defense counsel questioned Complainant about these details. At that time, Complainant claimed 1) she did not push Appellant’s arms off her when he came up

¹ Officer Christian’s body-worn camera footage was offered for identification as Defendant’s Exhibit #1 and is on file with this Court.

behind her recliner; 2) she did not move from her recliner to her couch, and did not get up from her recliner until Appellant initiated the sexual assault; and 3) that she had not told Officer Christian that Appellant kept asking if her son was home. Defense counsel reminded Complainant that Officer Christian's body-camera had captured her statements and Complainant listened to the audio through headphones. After listening to the audio, Complainant still claimed she had not said those things to Officer Christian. R. 183, l. 4 – 188, l. 4; R. 193, l. 12 – 194, l. 22.

After the State rested, the defense recalled Officer Christian in its case-in-chief. Officer Christian confirmed that Defense Exhibit #1 was the recording from his body-camera (the footage had not previously been introduced), and the defense attempted to play the relevant portions of the footage to impeach Complainant's testimony. The solicitor objected to hearsay and argued Appellant could not use the footage for impeachment because Officer Christian "can't impeach her statement." Defense counsel argued she had complied with Rule 613(b), SCRE. The court sustained the objection. R. 256, l. 6 – 265, l. 7. The jury did not hear the impeachment evidence.

As to Issue 4, defense counsel sought to offer evidence that Complainant had a reputation for untruthfulness via the testimony of Tomeka Scott. Appellant was Scott's uncle. Complainant was Scott's great-aunt. R. 314, l. 1-8. The solicitor asked for a proffer of Scott's testimony. R. 303, ll. 11-21. Scott testified in camera that she did not confide in Complainant because, "you hear from different family members, you know, that they would say, Well, you can't trust her, or, Don't get in mix with her too much, you know, just stuff like that. But I just keep my distance away from drama, period, so." R. 307, ll. 2-9. Scott was wary of Complainant. R. 307, ll. 2-9.

Scott testified that although the close, extended family used to get together a lot, it lately had held family gatherings only “every now and then.” R. 305, ll. 9-20.

The solicitor argued that since Scott avoided Complainant, she did not know Complainant well enough to testify about her and that her testimony was hearsay. Defense counsel argued, “That’s what reputation is, Your Honor, things that you hear from people. And there is a specific hearsay exception for this very thing, for reputation and character. R. 308, l. 12 – 309, l. 4. Defense counsel argued that the testimony was admissible pursuant to Rules 803(21), 404(a)(2), and 405, SCRE. R. 295, l. 22 – 297, l. 18.

The court ruled, “Based on the testimony that I just heard, that does not qualify for any exception, So the State’s objection is sustained.” R. 319, ll. 5-7.

After successfully preventing Appellant from presenting evidence of the complainant’s bias and motive to misrepresent as well as her reputation for untruthfulness, the solicitor unfairly argued in closing that Complainant was credible because, “Why does she need to come and make up a lie?” R. 330, ll. 10-11. “[W]hat bias does she have, what motivation would she have? And what is it? Other than it happened.” R. 331, ll. 3-5.

The case was, as defense counsel noted, a “he said/she said” credibility battle. R. 50, ll. 20-23. In addition to Complainant’s testimony, the State produced text messages between Complainant and Appellant after the alleged offense in which Appellant apologized for an unknown matter. Complainant then texted Appellant an accusation of sexual assault, and Appellant replied, “I don’t understand.” *See* State’s Exhibits #10 – 16.² The solicitor argued that Appellant was apologizing for the sexual assault. R. 332, ll. 8-11. Appellant testified he

² State’s Exhibits #9 – 15 are photographs of text messages between Appellant and Complainant and are on file with this Court.

apologized for sharing with Complainant the heavy news that he had been contemplating suicide. R. 280, l. 17 – 281, l. 23.

The solicitor also presented testimony from a physician's assistant at a pain management clinic that Complainant had been a patient at the clinic for fifteen years and had chronic low back pain. The physician's assistant said that Complainant was seen at the clinic on November 1, 2017, for a regular follow-up appointment and Complainant claimed her left side was sore from being assaulted and thrown to the ground. R. 97, l. 19 – 103, l. 15.

Although the jury deliberated for three hours and asked to be recharged on the law, Appellant was ultimately convicted as indicted. R. 367, l. 22 – 373, l. 13.

As to Issue 5, defense counsel moved for a new trial based on cumulative error. As seen, this was a "he said/she said" case. R. 50, ll. 20-23. Counsel cited to the jury's lengthy deliberations³ and argued, "And that was without some of the evidence that we had planned and hoped of presenting for his defense . . . we were not allowed to go into Ms. [Complainant's] arrest as being part of her motive and bias against [Appellant]." R. 379, l.23 – 380, l. 7. "We were not allowed to go into some of the reputation evidence that we were planning on presenting . . . And we believe that evidence could have made a difference if [Appellant] had been able to go into it. Your Honor, I would respectfully request a new trial." R. 380, ll. 10-22.

The court denied the motion. R. 380, ll. 23-24. Appellant was sentenced to an active prison term of seven years, and he was ordered to register as a sexual offender. R. 389, l. 15 – 390, l. 1.

³ Counsel argued that the jury deliberated for two and a half hours but it appears from the transcript that the jury deliberated for three hours. R. 367, ll. 22-23; R. 372, ll. 14-21; R. 379, ll. 24-25.

ARGUMENT

1.

The court erred where it prohibited Appellant from cross-examining Complainant on whether she was arrested and unsuccessfully attempted to reach Appellant to help her obtain bail a week before she alleged that Appellant sexually assaulted her, since Appellant was entitled to considerable latitude in cross-examining his accuser on her bias or motive to misrepresent.

Standard of review

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