RECEIVED

Dec 16 2022

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY

Court of General Sessions
The Honorable Jocelyn Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2021-001188

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

TERRY GERRARD GRIDINE,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOSHUA A. EDWARDS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

BYRON E. GIPSON
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit

1701 Main St.
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 576-1800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

under which its laws are carried out,' . . . and its decision in this regard is not subject to proscription under the Due Process Clause unless 'it offends some principle of justice so rooted in the traditions and conscience of our people as to be ranked as fundamental.'" Id. at 43. It is a "heavy burden" to show a due process claim based on the restriction of relevant evidence. Id. at 43.

While undue limitation of cross-examination may in some cases rise to the level of a Confrontation Clause violation, "[i]t does not follow, of course, that the Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment prevents a trial judge from imposing any limits on defense counsel's inquiry into the potential bias of a prosecution witness. On the contrary, trial judges retain wide latitude insofar as the Confrontation Clause is concerned to impose reasonable limits on such cross-examination based on concerns about, among other things, harassment, prejudice, confusion of the issues, the witness' safety, or interrogation that is repetitive or only marginally relevant. . . . [T]he Confrontation Clause guarantees an opportunity for effective cross-examination, not cross-examination that is effective in whatever way, and to whatever extent, the defense might wish." Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 679 (1986).

The trial court's ruling limiting Gridine's cross-examination of Webber was within the trial court's discretion and did not rise to the level of a Confrontation Clause violation. The court did not prohibit "all inquiry into the possibility" of bias. Id. Instead, it excluded only the fact of Webber's arrest. Gridine was able to extensively cross-examine Webber regarding the consistency of her testimony and

the circumstances under which she reported the assault. While Gridine asserts this limited the cross-examination to a "milquetoast" exchange, it was within the trial court's discretion to impose reasonable limits on cross-examination.

c. Prejudice.

Exclusion of the fact that Webber was arrested did not influence the jury's verdict, and therefore did not prejudice Gridine. See State v. Charping, 313 S.C. 147, 437 S.E.2d 88 (1993) ("Error is harmless where it did not reasonably affect the result of the trial"); see also Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 680 (1986) (rejecting per se reversal for a Confrontation Clause violation but finding prejudice from exclusion of cross-examination where a "reasonable jury might have received a significantly different impression of [witness's] credibility had respondent's counsel been permitted to pursue his proposed line of cross-examination").

Gridine was not prejudiced because the excluded evidence did not reasonably support the defense theory that the episode provided a motive for Webber to falsely accuse Gridine of sexual assault. Gridine never refused to help Webber, and was not even aware that she attempted to call him from jail until she told him. This is a far cry from defense counsel's earlier assertion that "[Webber] reach[ed] out to him for help with posting her bond, which he did not do." (R.165–166). Unlike other cases where courts have found a Confrontation Clause violation, the proposed cross-examination in this case did not have "strong potential to demonstrate the falsity of [Webber's] testimony." Olden v. Kentucky, 488 U.S. 227, 232 (1988). Given its low probative value, exclusion of cross-examination of Webber regarding the fact that

she had been arrested did not affect the result of trial and did not reasonably affect the jury's judgments as to her credibility. Gridine was allowed to cross-examine Webber about whether she "reached out to [Gridine] for help" (R.174–175). Webber agreed that she attempted to call Gridine for help reaching her daughter but was unable to reach him and had to use "some other avenue" (R.175). Thus, Gridine was able to at least partially elicit the information he desired. Of course, the jury had already heard defense counsel ask Ms. Webber about her arrest and undoubtedly understood the "help" to which defense counsel was referring. (R.156). This Court should affirm.

II. The trial court correctly excluded hearsay testimony from Gridine that the victim told him she had tried to call him from jail.

Gridine claims the trial court erroneously excluded testimony that the victim told Gridine she attempted to call him from jail. The trial court correctly excluded the evidence because it was hearsay and evidence of the victim's arrest had already been excluded under Rule 403, SCRE. The trial court's application of the hearsay rule was not "arbitrary" such that it rose to the level of a due process violation. This Court should affirm.

A. Standard of review.

The admission or exclusion of evidence is a matter addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court and its ruling will not be disturbed in the absence of a manifest abuse of discretion accompanied by probable prejudice. State v. Collins, 409 S.C. 524, 530, 763 S.E.2d 22, 25 (2014). An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law. Id.

B. Discussion.

Even though the trial court had already excluded evidence that the victim attempted to call Gridine from jail, Gridine attempted to introduce hearsay evidence to the same effect during his case in chief. The trial court correctly excluded the testimony because it did not fit within any hearsay exception. Likewise, the ruling did not amount to a due process violation. This Court should affirm.

Gridine attempted to offer testimony that the victim, Ms. Webber, told him at some point that she had attempted to call him from jail. He did not receive the call and did not refuse to help Ms. Webber. As argued in in the first argument section of this brief, the trial court acted within its discretion when it excluded evidence of Webber's arrest. This is the same issue, repackaged. However, this evidence was also improper hearsay. See Rule 801(c), SCRE ("Hearsay' is a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted."). Hearsay is not admissible except as provided by the rules of evidence or by other rules prescribed by the Supreme Court of this State or by statute. Rule 802, SCRE.

Gridine apparently concedes the evidence was hearsay. Brief of Appellant at 24–25. However, he argues the trial court should have ignored the rule against hearsay and admitted the evidence pursuant to his right to testify in his own defense. He cites Rock v. Arkansas, 483 U.S. 44 (1987), for the proposition that a state may not "arbitrarily" apply rules of evidence to exclude evidence from a testifying defendant. Brief of Appellant at 24. In Rock, the United States Supreme Court struck down Arkansas's "per se rule excluding a criminal defendant's hypnotically refreshed testimony." Rock v. Arkansas, 483 U.S. 44, 49 (1987). The Court chronicled the legal shift away from the common law prohibition against defendant's testifying at all in their own trial, to the modern rule guaranteeing defendants the right to testify in their own defense. Id. at 49–52. The Court concluded Arkansas's absolute prohibition on a defendant testifying after she had

undergone hypnosis unduly restricted the defendant's right to testify, in violation of her right to due process. The court held that "[w]holesale inadmissibility of a defendant's testimony is an arbitrary restriction on the right to testify in the absence of clear evidence by the State repudiating the validity of all posthypnosis recollections." Id. at 61.

The Rock court discussed Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284 (1973), an earlier Supreme Court case addressing a defendant's right to testify and to cross-examine potential exculpatory witnesses. Chambers involved several significant restrictions on a defendant's right to present a defense. First, Chambers was not allowed to cross-examine a witness who had confessed to the crime for which he was on trial because Mississippi rules did not allow a party to impeach its own witnesses. Second, Mississippi did not recognize a hearsay exception for declarations against penal interest and the trial court prevented several witnesses from recounting the third party's confession. The Supreme Court ruled that the restrictions cumulatively amounted to a due process violation, and explained that "the hearsay rule may not be applied mechanistically to defeat the ends of justice." Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 302 (1973). However, the Court made clear that the case presented an exceptional circumstance, writing that "perhaps no rule of evidence has been more respected or more frequently applied in jury trials than that applicable to the exclusion of hearsay." Chambers, 410 U.S. at 302. The Court concluded by explaining: "In reaching this judgment, we establish no new principles of constitutional law. Nor does our holding signal any diminution in the respect

traditionally accorded to the States in the establishment and implementation of their own criminal trial rules and procedures. Rather, we hold quite simply that under the facts and circumstances of this case the rulings of the trial court deprived Chambers of a fair trial." Id. at 302--3.

In Montana v. Egelhoff, 518 U.S. 37 (1996), the Supreme Court explained that "Chambers was an exercise in highly case-specific error correction." Montana v. Egelhoff, 518 U.S. 37, 52 (1996). "[T]he holding of Chambers—if one can be discerned from such a fact-intensive case—is certainly not that a defendant is denied 'a fair opportunity to defend against the State's accusations' whenever 'critical evidence' favorable to him is excluded, but rather that erroneous evidentiary rulings can, in combination, rise to the level of a due process violation." Id. at 53.

Later, in Holmes v. South Carolina, 547 U.S. 319 (2006), the Supreme Court reversed a conviction based on the undue restriction of evidence of third party guilt. The Holmes court explained the type of restriction on evidence that will give rise to a due process violation: "While the Constitution thus prohibits the exclusion of defense evidence under rules that serve no legitimate purpose or that are disproportionate to the ends that they are asserted to promote, well-established rules of evidence permit trial judges to exclude evidence if its probative value is outweighed by certain other factors such as unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or potential to mislead the jury." Holmes v. South Carolina, 547 U.S. 319, 326 (2006).

Together, these cases explain that only in exceptional circumstances will the exclusion of evidence pursuant to valid state evidentiary rules rise to the level of a due process violation. This case does not present the application of an arbitrary rule of evidence, such as South Carolina's former rule conditioning the admissibility of third party guilt evidence on the strength of the State's case, or Arkansas's rule against a defendant's post-hypnosis testimony. Rather, the trial court's ruling in this case was a straightforward application of one of the most foundational rules of evidence: the rule against hearsay. See Chambers, 410 U.S. at 302 ("perhaps no rule of evidence has been more respected or more frequently applied in jury trials than that applicable to the exclusion of hearsay").

Even if the trial court erred, Gridine was not prejudiced. As explained in the argument section pertaining to Issue #1, evidence of Webber's arrest had little probative value. Gridine did not refuse Webber's request to bail her out of jail. Instead, Gridine simply missed her call and she called her sister instead. (R.174–175). The ruling did not affect the jury's verdict. This Court should affirm.

III. Gridine was not prejudiced by the trial court's limitation of impeachment concerning whether she told the responding deputy that she "pushed [Gridine's] arms away" when he hugged her from behind and whether Gridine asked "whether [her son] was home" prior to the incident.

Gridine argues the trial court erroneously prevented him from impeaching the victim's trial testimony with her prior statement to police. While the trial court did erroneously rule that impeachment with extrinsic evidence would violate the rule against hearsay, Gridine failed to preserve the issue because he did not proffer any specific portions of the video containing the statements. Furthermore, any error was harmless because the portions of Ms. Webber's statements Gridine identifies in his brief were not important to the case and did not reasonably affect the result of trial. This Court should affirm.

A. Standard of review.

The admission or exclusion of evidence is a matter addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court and its ruling will not be disturbed in the absence of a manifest abuse of discretion accompanied by probable prejudice. State v. Collins, 409 S.C. 524, 530, 763 S.E.2d 22, 25 (2014). An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law. Id.

B. Issue preservation.

This issue arose during the recall and direct examination by Gridine of the deputy who took Webber's initial statement. Deputy Christian recorded the interaction on his body-worn camera. Defense counsel was attempting to impeach

Webber's testimony, and offered the video into evidence. The solicitor objected on hearsay grounds. (R.258–259).

In arguing for the admissibility of the video, defense counsel stated: "there are two clips totaling 35 seconds that are prior inconsistent statements that were made by Ms. Webber during her testimony yesterday. When I was cross-examining her, she, even after listening to herself on video, denied making these statements." (R.261). Defense counsel never identified which statements she alleged were inconsistent, and never requested to proffer the evidence. The court sustained the objection.

Rule 103, SCRE, provides: "Error may not be predicated upon a ruling which admits or excludes evidence unless a substantial right of the party is affected, and . . . (2) In case the ruling is one excluding evidence, the substance of the evidence and the specific evidentiary basis supporting admission were made known to the court by offer or were apparent from the context." Gridine did not comply with this rule because he did not specify which statements he alleged were inconsistent with Webber's trial testimony. Because Gridine did not specify which statements were inconsistent, this Court has no way of knowing which statements he planned to use to impeach Ms. Webber. This issue is not preserved for review. See State v. Nichols, 325 S.C. 111, 120, 481 S.E.2d 118, 123 (1997) (explaining objection must be raised on "specific ground" to preserve issue for appellate review).

C. Discussion.

In his brief, Gridine points to two portions of the record where Webber denied making a prior statement. The first concerns whether Ms. Webber told Deputy

Christian that she pushed Gridine's hands away as he hugged her around the neck from behind. (R.184–188). The second is whether she "told Deputy Christian that [Gridine] kept asking . . . if [her son] was home." (R.193–194).

As to whether Webber told Deputy Christian that Gridine asked whether her son was home, Webber did deny that Gridine "kept asking throughout the evening" whether her son was home. (R.193, lines 17–22). Defense counsel then played the body camera video through headphones so that only Webber could hear. When defense counsel asked again whether she had told Deputy Christian that Gridine kept asking whether her son was home, Webber responded, "that's not what I heard just now." (R.194, line 10). Webber continued: "I didn't hear me ask him whether my son was home or not. . . . I don't remember [Gridine] asking me whether my son was home. [Gridine] knew my son would not have been home because he was outside back and forth." (R.194).

Accordingly, while Webber did deny the statement, after being confronted with the body camera video she gave an equivocal answer and stated she did not remember Gridine asking about her son. Regardless, this exchange was inconsequential, and could not have made a difference in the result of trial. See State v. Charping, 313 S.C. 147, 437 S.E.2d 88 (1993) ("Error is harmless where it did not reasonably affect the result of the trial"). Whether Gridine asked whether her son was home was an unimportant fact compared with the remainder of Webber's statement describing how Gridine forcibly digitally penetrated her.

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